Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

Masters Theses

ESTERN

Graduate College

8-2013

Improved Deinkability of LEP (Liquid Electrophotography) Digital Prints

Zheng Wei Western Michigan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters_theses

Part of the Chemical Engineering Commons, and the Polymer and Organic Materials Commons

Recommended Citation

Wei, Zheng, "Improved Deinkability of LEP (Liquid Electrophotography) Digital Prints" (2013). *Masters Theses.* 173. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters_theses/173

This Masters Thesis-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.



IMPROVED DEINKABILITY OF LEP (LIQUID ELECTROPHOTOGRAPHY) DIGITAL PRINTS

by

Zheng Wei

A thesis submitted to the Graduate College in partial fulfillment of the requrements for the degree of Master of Science Paper Engineering, Chemical Engineering and Imaging Western Michigan University August 2013

Thesis Committee:

Paul D. Fleming, Ph.D., Chair John H. Cameron, Ph.D. Jan. Pekarovic, Ph.D.

IMPROVED DEINKABILITY OF LEP (LIQUID ELECTROPHOTOGRAPHY) DIGITAL PRINTS

Zheng Wei, M.S.

Western Michigan University, 2013

Digital printing plays a very important role in the life of modern society. With the development of digital printing technologies, and the increasing market share of digital printing, the amount of digital prints in waste paper is rapidly increasing. Under "green" manufacturing and environmental sustainability, deinking of digital print inks is an urgent problem that needs to be solved. Indigo is a typical series of HP (Hewlett-Packard) digital presses that use a liquid ink named ElectroInk (Liquid Electrophotography or LEP). The particle size of HP ElectroInk is very small, 1-2 microns, which is smaller than dry toners. But, during flotation, the ink platelets were too big to be removed by foaming.

In this research, we focus on a new way of deinking that uses ultrasound treatment. Ultrasound could break down the ink platelets and then help the ink detachment from fiber. During the deinking processes, we choose both neutral and alkaline environments. For different ultrasound times, we will compare the results using a variety of Indigo certified substrates at 20 kHz. ElectroInks can be detached by ultrasound treatment and then we can remove them by conventional flotation technology.

Copyright by Zheng Wei 2013

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my thesis committee members, Dr. Paul Dan Fleming, Dr. John Cameron, and Dr. Jan Pekarovic for their guidance, encouragement and support. I want to thank the "Department of Chemical and Paper Engineering" of Western Michigan University, which has provided me the opportunity to finish my research. I want to thank my thesis advising committee chair "Dr. Paul Dan Fleming" for his guidance and support for this research. I would also like to offer thanks to my friends and fellow students Roland Gong and Veronika Husovska. During this research, they supply me with a lot invaluable information and encouragement. Special thanks needs to be given to Dr. John Cameron. Without his help and support, I would not have been able to complete my thesis.

I would also like to thank Dr. Cesar Basilio, who met me at the TAPPI Conference. He gave me many valuable papers and some advices. I do appreciate about that because I did not know him before. That support did help me to finish my research.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude towards to my beloved parents. Without their support, I could not come to America to achieve my dream. And I do want to thanks my friends and colleagues who contributed in different ways.

Zheng Wei

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS ii
LIST OF TABLES vi
LIST OF FIGURES vii
CHAPTER
I. INTRODUCTION 1
II. REFERENCES REVIEW 4
Forest Shortage 4
Recycled Paper 5
Deinking
Flotation and Washing9
Deinking Chemicals11
INGEDE and INGEDE Method 11
Screening 15
Stickies 16
Digital Printing17
LEP
Application of Ultrasound 19

Table of Contents—continued

CHAPTER

Instruments Review	21
Hobart Pulper	21
Ultrasound Machine	22
Handmade Flotation Cell	23
Brightness and Luminosity Measurement Machine	24
L, a* and b* Value Measurement Machine	25
Measurement of Dirt Area	25
The Other Instruments	25
III. STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	27
IV. EXPERIMENTAL	29
Deinking	29
Screening	33
V. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	38
Deinking	38
Brightness (457nm)	38
Luminosity by C/2° (557nm)	39
Luminosity of D65/2° (557nm)	40

CHAPTER

CIE a* 41
CIE b*
IE _{AREA} (Ink Elimination by Area)
Ink Speck Size Distribution 44
Screening 46
Brightness(557nm)
Luminosity by C/2° (557nm) 47
Luminosity of D65/2° (557nm) 48
CIE a* 49
CIE b* 50
IE _{AREA} (Ink Elimination by Area)
VI. CONCLUSION
BIBLIOGRAPHY

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Chemicals for Deinking Processes	13
2.	The Instruments Used in Deinking Process	26
3.	Description of Samples in 5 Groups	30
4.	Data of Dark Objects	42
5.	Data of Ink Speck Size Distribution	44
6.	Data of Dark Objects Only Under Neutral Condition	50

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	World Forest Cover from 1990 to 2010	. 5
2.	Waste Paper Storage	. 6
3.	Paper Recycling Rate of Europe From 1991 to 2009	. 7
4.	Paper Manufactures and Paper Recycling Diagram	. 7
5.	Deinking Line	. 9
6.	Particle Size Removal Efficiency	10
7.	Flotation Cell	11
8.	Deinkability Test Method for Printed Products	14
9.	Clark Classifier	15
10.	Size Classification of Stickies	16
11.	HP Indigo Digital Press	19
12.	The Range of Ultrasound	20
13.	Hobart Pulper	21
14.	The Temperature Keeping Bag	21
15.	VCX 130 PB	22
16.	Ultrasound Work in The Handmade Flotation Cell	23
17.	Cameron Flotation cell	23
18.	Technidyne BrightiMeter Micro S-5	24
19.	X-rite Eyeone Pro	25
20.	Flowchart of Alkaline Deinking Processes	29
21.	Alkaline Deinking with Ultrasound Treatment	29

List of Figures—continued

22.	Unprinted	31
23.	Undeinked	31
24.	Normal Deinked	31
25.	Ultrasound 10min	31
26.	Ultrasound 20min	31
27.	Undeinked	31
28.	Normal Deinked	31
29.	Ultrasound 10min	32
30.	Ultrasound 20min	32
31.	Flowchart of Neutral Deinking Processes	32
32.	Neutral Deinking with Ultrasound Treatment	32
33.	Zones for Clark Classifier	34
34.	Chamber Details of Clark Classifier	37
35.	Brightness of Sample 5	38
36.	Brightness of Sample 5	38
37.	Luminosity of Sample 5 by C/2°(Alkaline)	39
38.	Luminosity of Sample 5 by C/2°(Neutral)	39
39.	Luminosity of Sample 5 by D65/2°(Alkaline)	40
40.	Luminosity of Sample 5 by C/2°(Neutral)	40
41.	CIE a* (Alkaline)	41
42.	CIE a* (Alkaline)	41

43.	CIE b* (Alkaline)	. 42
44.	CIE b* (Neutral)	. 42
45.	Ink Elimination Area by Different Ultrasound Treatment Time	. 43
46.	Normal Deinked Samples VS Ultrasound 10min	. 45
47.	The Histogram of Ink Spec Size Distribution	. 46
48.	Y Value by C/2°	. 47
49.	Y Value by D65/2°	. 48
50.	a* Value of Sample #5 with Screening	. 49
51.	b* Value of Sample #5 with Screening	. 50
52.	Ink Elimination Area with Screening	. 51

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

With the development of digital technology, digital printing has already become a necessary printing method. Compared with the other traditional printing methods, digital printing is easy to control and convenient. Traditional printings have their own advantages and some of these cannot yet be matched by digital printing methods. Giant amounts of printing requirements still depend on traditional printing because of the costs for long runs. But digital printing is the future. People do not need to become experts before they use the printing machine and they do not need to touch the ink and make their hands dirty.

The appearance of "digital" changed the world. People realized that digital technology is powerful and amazing. They focus on the research of "digital" include digital printing. Digital printing plays a very important role in the life of modern society. There is variety of digital printers that were invented by different printing companies. At the same time, with higher requirements of production, different kinds of inks have appeared every day. Thus, it is so difficult to find a uniform method of deinking those digital inks.

Under "green" manufacturing and environmental sustainability, deinking of digital print inks is an urgent problem that needs to be solved. INGEDE (International Association of the deinking Industry) has published 17 methods to establish a specification of deinking [1]. It works very well on traditional printing productions, but for digital printing it is barely satisfactory.

LEP (Liquid Electrophotography) is used by a typical series of HP (Hewlett-Packard) Indigo digital presses. The particle size of Indigo ink is very small, just 1-2 microns [2]. The small particle size provides high resolution, uniform gloss and very thin ink films. At the same time the particle size does not work in the flotation range, which is 10-100 micron [3].

Traditional deinking is under alkaline conditions. Following an alkaline deinking method, people found that, during the flotation process, no foam is generated in that step [4]. So trying some new chemicals is necessary for LEP deinking. Some of the chemicals are easy to choose, some of them are so complex to choose from. The details will be given later.

Neutral chemicals, instead of alkaline chemicals, may solve the foaming problem. But the ink plates are too large to be removed by that foam [5]. In this research, ultrasound treatments are used before flotation to break down the ink plates.

Ultrasound treatment has popular for use in different areas. For deinking, people did research on ultrasound about 15 years ago [6]. Because of the cost, ultrasound was not competitive compared with the other methods to improve deinking. Many people still focus on chemicals to consummate the deinking processes. Nevertheless, it is so difficult to find one chemical to work on all of digital inks and the chemicals also pollute the water and environment. In addition, it is unpractical for paper machines to separate and deink different kinds of digital prints.

Ultrasound treatment does not pollute the environment, which is perfect to match the purpose of green manufacturing. In addition, it could be widely used in deinking with different inks.

In this research, through the Clark Classifier screening machine, it was easy to determine the size of the Ink plates. Some publications have mentioned that Indigo

Ink is very soft; they could deform through the slot, so the screening process does not work well on them [7]. But if we could reverse operation of the machine, it should be an efficient method for deinking.

From the above, the objectives of this thesis are:

- 1. Solve the foaming problem for LEP deinking. One method to solve this problem is to use different chemicals.
- 2. Add in ultrasound treatment to determine the effect of the deinking process.
- 3. Compare the results of the samples under alkaline and neutral conditions.
- 4. Analyze the influence of the ultrasound treatment and compare the results under different ultrasound times.
- 5. Use the screening machine to get more information about the ElectroInk.

CHAPTER II

REFERENCES REVIEW

Forest Shortage

The forest is very important for creatures of the world. Forests supplied the essential services and could provide important goods. Forests cover 31% of the world's land surface [8], which can filter water, protect soil, provide habitat for countless animal species and so on.

Figure 1 is the world forest cover from 1990 to 2010. Those data came from the U.N. Food and Agriculture Organization. From 1990 to 2010, the total world's forest cover decreased from 4168 million hectares to 4033 million hectares [8]. During these decades, Asia and Europe increased their forest coverage. North and Central America were stable. The deforestation of Africa and South America were serious. Each year the world lost on average 16 million hectares of forest, which is roughly equal to the size of Michigan [8]. Some of the places realize the importance of the forest then started planting and expanded their natural area, but the loss of the forests is still 8.3 million hectares.

World Forest Cover, 1990-2010

Region	Total Forest Cover		
1.5	1990	2000	2010
-	Million Hectares		
Africa	749	709	674
Asia	576	570	593
Europe	989	998	1,005
North and Central America	708	705	705
Oceania	199	198	191
South America	946	904	864
World	4,168	4,085	4,033

Figure 1. World Forest Cover from 1990 to 2010 [8] 1 hectare = 2.47 acres

From 1990 to 2010, the Forest coverage of Asia changed its trajectory from forest loss to forest expansion. China has contributed much to this increase. The disastrous flooding in 1998 was considered the worst Chinese flood in 40 years [9]. After the flooding, there was \$26 billion in economic loss and 15 million homeless. The government realized the importance of forest protection and soil protection. Alone with development of the industry, environmental protection was much more important than before. China's heavy planting can disguise the trends elsewhere in the region. From 1990 to 2010, the loss of forest in India was 24 million hectares [8].

Recycled Paper

Recycling is the process of re-using a given product. Due the forest forestation and non-renewable energy, the awareness of recycling has greatly increased. Plastic, glass and paper all can be recycled. Paper recycling is one of the most important parts of the recycling effort, which is the future of the papermaking industry. The papermaking industries need to face the energy crisis and shortage of forest in the next two decades. Nevertheless, paper recycling will bring a turning point to the paper industry. Paper recycling has both economic and ecological value.



Figure 2. Waste Paper Storage [10]

Europe, Japan and the United States are the highest recycling rate areas. Europe has a long history of paper recycling and they already have many mature organizations of paper-recycling. In 2009, the paper-recycling rate of Europe was 72.2%. Japan is a poor resource country. Therefore, the government established a series of recycling policies, including paper-recycling. Their paper-recycling rate also could achieve 72% right now [10]. The United States is one of the largest countries of paper manufacturing. Today, over half of the paper used in the US is recycled paper.



Figure 3. Paper Recycling Rate of Europe from 1991 to 2009 [11]

Compared with non-recycled paper, recycled paper has many advantages. The process of recycled paper manufacture has less impact on forest resources, less energy consumption and less solid waste. From Figure 3, the paper-recycling rate already achieved 72% in 2009. From 1991 to 2009, in this decade, the paper recycling rate increased 30%.



Figure 4. Paper Manufactures and Paper Recycling Diagram [12]

Figure 4 shows the flowcharts of paper manufacture and paper recycling. The recycled paper comes from newspaper, magazines and some other grades. After collection, water and chemicals is added into the waste paper to break it down. Then, they are heated and chopped up to break down further and the resulting suspension is called pulp or slurry [13]. The pulp goes through screens to remove glue and plastic materials that may still be in the mixture. Then cleaned, deinked and bleached and the pulp can be used to make new paper.

Normally, the same fiber can be recycled only 7 times, because every time fibers will get shorter and at last strained out. Recycled pulp could produce different kinds of paper that even some virgin pulp could not produce [14]. Recycled pulp has high opacity, uniform fibrous tissue and could meet the quality requirements of the majority of the paper without beating [15]. Recovered paper accounted for more than 37% of fiber used to make new paper products in the United States in 2007, which was clarified by the American Forest and Paper Association [14].

Deinking

Deinking is the heart of paper recycling. The purpose of deinking is removing those inks, which are 2% on average in waste paper. The ink is considered dirt and the deinking process is similar to a laundering process. Deinking can restore or even exceed the whiteness, the softness and other characteristics of the original fiber. Normally there are three steps of deinking: separate fiber, ink detachment from fiber and remove the ink from the fiber suspension.

Deinking chemicals are used during the re-pulping stage to dislodge the ink

particles from the fiber and disperse them in the stock suspension. Those ink particles canbe removed by washing, flotation or the combination of washing and flotation.



Figure 5. Deinking Line [16]

Figure 5 is the diagram of the deinking process in a paper mill. The result of deinking can be judged by the optical properties and ink elimination area. One of the deinking organizations, which is INGEDE (International Association of the Deinking Industry) [1], has already published the standard of each deinking process.

Flotation and Washing

The purpose of flotation and washing is to remove the ink from the fiber suspension. The conventional deinking process includes flotation, washing and combined washing and flotation. Depending on the ink particle size which could help to choose the most efficient method. Figure 6 shows that, depending on particle size, different methods have different ink removal efficiencies. The larger particle size is removed by cleaning and screening, the smaller ones are removed by washing and flotation. Because of water shortages and the cost, flotation is becoming much more popular than washing. In addition, engineers have invented some new mechanical technologies to combine the advantages of washing and flotation to perfect the deinking process.



Figure 6. Particle Size Removal Efficiency [17]

The washing method uses a hydraulic force to separate and force pulp suspension through a filter or mesh and the water entrains those ink particles to be removed. When the particle size of ink is under 5 microns, washing should be chosen and when the particle sizes are from 15 to 30 microns, the flotation has the highest ink removal efficiency.



Figure 7. Flotation Cell [18]

There are two important parts in the flotation operation cell, which are the agitator and air supply instrument. The deinking chemicals added into the flotation cell help the ink be detached from the fiber. Then those air bubbles attach to those inks to move them on the top of the flotation cell. That combination is called froth and a paddle is used to remove the froth before the air bubbles brake down. That's the reason why the flotation could save more water than washing. Figure 7 shows each part of the flotation cell and the operation principle.

Deinking Chemicals

Chemicals play a very important role in deinking processes. For conventional printing products, there are already efficient chemicals to deink them. However, it is so difficult to find the chemicals that work on all of the digital prints. Each digital printer has its ink to match the printing requirements. Some of them are inkjet, some are dry toner and some are liquid toner, each of them with their own different characteristics [19].

Some of the chemicals are simple to choose, such as Sodium hydroxide, hydrogen peroxide and oleic acid. The others are difficult to choose. Those normal chemicals added in the sample of this research [4], which is based on LEP (Liquid Electrophotography), is barely satisfactory. There are two reasons LEP inks are difficult to deink. The most important one is the small particle size of digital particle ink and the second one is the big ink plates which were too big to remove in the flotation process.

In the washing method, the chemicals should have strong dispersing ability [20]. For flotation, the deinking chemicals should have good foam generation ability with the function of trapping ink. In this research, some neutral chemicals were considered, instead of conventional alkaline deinking chemicals. They are POES (polyoxyethylene stearate) and SDS (sodium dodecyl sulfate) [21].

POES is a non-ionic cream emulsifying agent. The industrial application is wide [21]. In this research, POES, instead of the other conventional chemicals, was used in the defibration process. The concentration is 1% and the total chemical should be 400 ml. A pH buffer was used to control the pH around 7. After each of the deinking processes, the pH value was measured by a pH Meter. From storage to flotation process, the pulp consistency decreased to 1% from 5%. Before flotation, SDS was added. SDS is an anionic surfactant used in many cleaning products. SDS has good emulsifying, foaming and dispersing performance. SDS is used as a deinking agent, flocculating agent and penetrant in papermaking [21]. In the experiment the concentration of SDS is 0.1%.

Table 1

Chemicals for Deinking Processes

pH	Chemicals	Add in position	
9.5	0.6% NaOH	All of them are added at	
	1.8% Sodium silicate	the beginning of the	
	0.7% H ₂ O ₂	defibration process	
	0.8% Oleic acid		
7	1% POES	The POES is added in the	
	0.1%SDS	same position with the	
		alkaline chemicals. The	
		SDS is added in the	
		beginning of flotation	

INGEDE and INGEDE Method 11

INGEDE (International Association of the Deinking Industry) is an international organization, which works in many fields to study the recyclability of printed graphic products and to promote steps for improvements. In many areas, the improvements can be observed [22]. The main objective is gradually developing among the partners of the paper chain: to understand each other's problems and to discuss new developments in the production of printed products with regard to recyclability besides printing quality.

INGEDE Method 11 [23]

The INGEDE Methods have drawn much attention in the deinking field in recent years. INGEDE supplies the standard of deinkability and tries to unify the instruments and standards. (See Figure.8)



Figure 8. Deinkability Test Method for Printed Products (According to INGEDE Method)

Screening

Screening has been applied to different areas [17]. Screening could perform at low, medium or high consistency. In deinking, the medium and high consistency are normally used. The major types of screens are vibratory, gravity centrifugal and pressure screens. Screening is required to remove oversized and unwanted particles from fibers.

In this research, the Clark Classifier (T233) screening machine was used. There are four screens whose sizes varying from the left side to the right side of Figure 9 are 15, 30, 100 and 200 meshes. Four plugs in each of the cell are shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Clark Classifier

Stickies

According to the INGEDE Method, the deinkability and potential of stickies formation influences the recyclability of printed products. INGEDE Method 4 [24] mentions macrostickies and INGEDE Method 6 [25] talks about the potential secondary stickies by cationic precipitation. Stickies do not have an accurate definition in deinking. The general understanding is the tacky substances, which is contained in pulp and water systems and deposits onto the paper machine cylinders or rolls at certain stages of papermaking. There are two different kinds of stickies, primary and secondary stickies. From Figure 10, the micro and macro stickies are primary stickies could be finely dispersed, colloidal or molecularly dissolved [26]. Macro stickies are the materials retained during screening. Macro stickies are much easier to remove by filter compared with micro stickies. The latter ones are easy to get in the water system or paper machine then cause problematic deposits [27]. INGEDE Method 4 describes the macrostickies removal [24].



Figure 10. Size Classification of Stickies [28]

LEP inks contain plastic polymers, which create the potential source of stickies [29]. LEP does not have primary stickies, because the Indigo digital presses use light sensitive photoreceptor to attract the charged toner. The ink is attached on the paper by heat and pressure. After deinking, we may find that the ink plates from Indigo inks are large. The screening process added here could remove the big ink plates to help to increase the deinkability.

Digital Printing

Digital printing is any printing process that uses a digital file to create an image using a non-impact image transfer method [30]. Common methods include ink jet and electrophotography. There are two categories of digital printing, direct to paper or image carrier. Both of them are non-impact printing.

Digital printing is a high-efficiency and convenient printing method. Compared with the other printing methods, digital printing has a short history, having emerged in the late 1900s [30]. However, digital printing has evolved rapidly and has become one of the most common methods of printing for both business and individuals alike. Digital printing is growing and more digital printing devices are introduced every day and new inks are introduced to increase the quality of digital products. At the same time, it has been difficult to detach these digital inks from fibers with the same deinking processes used for conventional inks [30]. Electrophotographic printing was invented by Chester Carlson in 1938 [31]. After 70 years of development, electrophotography has become a more mature process in the ranks of digital printing. The printing companies are always seeking better ink, which will increase the printing quality and image fidelity. The particle size of the pigment should be as small as possible, in order to achieve higher print image resolution and smoother gradation level reproduction.

LEP (Liquid Electrophotography) ink combines the advantages of electronic printing with the qualities of liquid ink. The toner particle size is in the 1-2µm range [2]. Because of the small particle size, the ink provides high resolution, uniform gloss, sharp image edges and very thin ink films. Since the basic material of the liquid electrophotographic ink is a novel resin material, rather than oily material, curing is not dependent on the drying time of the ink film on the medium, when it is in contact with the paper or other medium, it can immediately cure and produce a clear printed images, the edges do not blur and bleed [32]. The biggest difference between Indigo ink and conventional ink is HP ElectroInk technology, which directs the ink electronically using charged particles in the ink. Unlike conventional printing that uses a fixed plate, HP indigo digital presses use a light sensitive photoconductor that attracts ink in charged areas. The digital press is shown in Figure.11. The number of consumers of LEP is expected to increase from 1 Billion in 2000 to 100 Billion in 2016, according to HP [33]. Not just for LEP, the percentage of all digital printing has increased in areas, such as packaging, books and labels.



Figure 11. HP Indigo Digital Press [33]

In addition, the INGEDE method does not work very well on LEP inks, which have been described as "unusable" [34]. The particles of LEP inks are thin, soft and flexible. There is little information about the composition of these inks. Nevertheless, it has been mentioned that they contain a mineral oil varnish and pigments similar to offset inks [21]. Bhattacharyya, et al. [21] suggest using near-neutral chemistry (termed as HPES), or an alkaline chemistry (termed as HPMF). However, most of the paper mills still refuse to use Indigo printed products [34]. Therefore, in this research; we will investigate ultrasound treatment to increase the deinkability.

Application of Ultrasound

Ultrasound is an oscillating sound pressure wave with a frequency from 20 kHz to 200MHz, which is greater than the upper limit of human hearing range [35]. Ultrasound is used in many areas, such as medical, petrochemical industry and

papermaking.

Different kinds of digital inks have different characteristics that challenge the deinking process. Normal deinking methods do not work well on them. Ultrasound has become another step to add into the flotation process [36, 37].



Figure 12. The Range of Ultrasound [35]

Although the particle size of LEP is small, the ink plates are too large to remove by foam. Ultrasound treatment on LEP could aid ink removal because after ultrasound treatment, the ink plates became smaller. Ultrasonic energy is well known for detaching particles or platelets from one another and surfaces [38]. The process was very effective at breaking down larger particles for improved flotation. In the present investigation, a frequency of 20 kHz will be used. The purpose of this investigation is to use the INGEDE deinking method 11, with the aid of ultrasound treatment. We will compare the alkaline and neutral deinking environments with and without 20 kHz ultrasound treatments. Using the INGEDE deinking method 11, we will investigate an ultrasound treatment before flotation and compare the neutral and alkaline deinking environments.

Instruments Review

Hobart Pulper

A Hobart type pulper (Kitchen Aid) was used for repulping, which is recommended by INGEDE. The repulping time was 20 minutes. The difficulty of this process is controlling the temperature at 45°. This Kitchen Aid machine does not have a temperature control system. So, in this experiment, we use plastic bags and separate them to add the required chemicals and dilution water to hold the temperature. The plastic bag looks unscientific, but it does work very well.



Figure 13. Hobart Pulper



Figure 14. The Temperature Keeping Bag

Ultrasound Machine



Figure 15. VCX 130 PB

The ultrasound treatment machine is a VCX 130 PB from SONICS & MATERIALS, INC. and consists of piezoelectric lead zirconate titanate crystals (PZT). The peak power output is 130 Watts and the frequency is 20 kHz (the resonance frequency of PZT) [39].

The probe tip diameter is 3 mm and the volume treated is up to 150 ml. Because the flotation cell volume is 2L, which is much larger than 150 ml, it is necessary to treat the pulp for an extended period of time. With good circulation by mixing, the entire volume of the cell is definitely impacted by the ultrasonic energy.



Figure 16. Ultrasound Work in The Cameron Flotation Cell

Handmade Flotation Cell



Figure 17. Cameron Flotation cell



the froth. This highly effected flotation cell was designed and built by Dr. John Cameron. This handmade flotation cell was easy to operate and the function is complete. The aeration was on the left side, which the red arrow shows in Figure 17. The flow rate of air was 1 L/min. Because of the ultrasound treatment machine needs to be added in the flotation cell at the top, a normal mixer could not work with the ultrasound machine. A magnetic stirrer was used to instead of the normal spindle mixer during air flotation.

Brightness and Luminosity Measurement Machine

The brightness will be measured by a Technidyne BrightiMeter Micro S-5 (show in Figure 18), which is a $C/2^{\circ}$ light source and 457nm. (T458) In addition, based on T524, Luminosity (Y) will be measured by this instrument also.



Figure 18. Technidyne BrightiMeter Micro S-5 [40]

L, a* and b* Value Measurement Machine

X-rite Eyeone Pro [41,42] was used to measure Y (557nm), CIE a* and CIR b* values at D65/2°. All of the optical properties were measured on both sides.



Figure 19. X-rite Eyeone Pro [41,42]

Measurement of Dirt Area

The dirt area was measured by an Epson Perfection V750 Pro scanner and Verity IA Light and Dark Dirt v3.4 software [43]. All of the handsheets scanned at 1200 dpi. The warm-up time of the scanner is up to 60 minutes. Through "preview scan" can adjust the position of the handsheets and reposition the measure area and the other parameters. Then do "Normal scan" and "run test on the mode" the data will output in an excel file automatically. The luminance range will be from 0 to 255 and the shape range will be from 12.56 to 300.

The Other Instruments

During this experiment also used some other instruments. The details are shown in Table 2.

Table 2

The Instruments Used in Deinking Process

	Instrument name	Running step	Description
1	Oven	Ageing	Aging time is 72
			hours and the
			temperature is
			60 °C
2	Container	Storage	Storage time is 1
			hour and the
			temperature is 45°C

CHAPTER III

STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

The competition of printer marketing is very stiff right now. Therefore, finding an efficient deinking method of Indigo prints is an emergent problem. Indigo is a series of HP Company's digital printers. Under alkaline condition, which means following conventional deinking methods, the deinking results are poor. Through an analysis of the character of liquid electrophotography, we need to find an efficient deinking method.

The ink particle size of indigo is from 1 to 2 micron, which is much smaller than the conventional dry toner inks. In addition, they are too soft to be removed by screening. Normally, the screening process is before or after the deinking process. In this research, the screening machine aids in deinking by yielding more information about Indigo inks. The screening machine normally is used to remove the undersized particles. However, in this research the fibers are considering as the oversized staff and the ink could go through the screening machine. After screening, the fiber stays on the screen and the ink goes through the screen. The difficulty of this experiment is during the screening process the water should flow through the screening machine at the same time. Because of the requirements of INGEDE, the whole process of deinking should use simulated tap water by adding known hardness to DI water, with temperature being kept around 45°C. Considering that the consistency of the next step of flotation is around 1% in this experiment, during the screening process no flow water gets into the chamber. Normally, the screening treatment should have flow water to wash out the fiber and rejects. Without water in the screening process should be influence the results of deinking.

The objective of this thesis is to compare the results of deinking under alkaline conditions and neutral conditions to determine which one works better for Indigo ink. Need to choose some good neutral chemicals, which can increase the deinkability of Indigo prints. Should add ultrasound treatment in the conventional deinking process, and then compare the results to determine the best ultrasound treatment time. According to the results of screening, this could give information for deinking of Indigo ink.

CHAPTER IV

EXPERIMENTAL

Deinking



Figure 20 and figure 21 are the flowcharts of alkaline deinking processes. The

difference of those two experiments is the ultrasound treatment. The ultrasound process is applied before the flotation process and the ultrasound treatment times are 0, 10 and 20 minutes.

In the experiment, each of the substrate samples yields prepared filter pads and handsheets. There are five groups of each sample: unprinted, undeinked, normal deinked ultrasound 10 minutes and ultrasound 20 minutes. (Shown below in table 3)

Group 1: U.P	Unprinted (With Standard Deinking Process)
	(
Group 2: U.D	Undeinked
	(Without Flotation)
Group 3: S.D	Normal Deinked
	(with Standard Deinking Process)
Group 4: U.S 10min	Ultrasound 10min
	(with Standard Deinking Process)
Group 5: U.S 20min	Ultrasound 20min
	(with Standard Deinking Process)

Table 3Description of Samples in 5 Groups

Each group produced 5 handsheets (1.2g OD) and two filter pads (4.0g OD) according to the T272 standard, which are 200 cm^2 in area (shown in Figures 22 to 26).



Figure 22. Unprinted

Figure 23. Undeinked





Figure 25. Ultrasound 10min





From Figures 22 to 26, the handsheets that were treated under alkaline conditions are shown. For Figures 27 to 30, the handsheets were treated under neutral conditions.



Figure 27. Undeinked



Figure 28. Normal Deinked



Figure 29. Ultrasound 10min



Figure 30. Ultrasound 20min



Deinking Processes

Figure 32. Neutral Deinking with Ultrasound Treatment

Figures 31 and 32 show the deinking processes under neutral conditions. SDS is added before flotation, which could help to generate better foam compared with alkaline chemicals. The difference between Figures 31 and 32 is also the ultrasound treatment process.

Screening

The Clark Classifier has four screens, so in the experiment there are five types of pulp shown in Figure 31. The sizes of the screens are 15 meshes, 30 meshes, 100 meshes and 200 meshes. A, B, C, D and E are those five of chambers which separate by those four screeners.

In this experiment, the Ageing, defibration and storage process are all the same as with the deinking process under neutral condition without ultrasound treatment. When the pulp is full in these four cells, the screening machine starts running for 5 minutes. The screening times are 5 minutes. After screening, A and B pulp could get enough filter pads and handsheets. Position C could get 2 filter pads and 2 handsheets. Pulp D only get 2 handsheets and the E pulp is clean, but could not get any handsheets and filter pads, since consistency was too low. The flotation process is the same as with the neutral deinking processes.



Figure 33. Zones for Clark Classifier







Figure 34. Chamber Details of Clark Classifier

CHAPTER V

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Deinking

All of the samples were supplied by HP. The substrate data were obtained at WMU. The details are in reference4. In this research, sample number 5 was chosen to finish all of the experiments. To start to design the experiment sample number 1 to number 5 were under different pH, deinking chemicals and ultrasound treatment time. The results of sample number 5 got better results compared with the others. So, all of the results below were obtained from sample number 5.









5.1.1 Brightness (457nm)

From Figures 35 and 36, the filter pad brightness was higher than the handsheets. There are two reasons for the difference in brightness. There are five handsheets for each group of the experiments because of the 2L flotation cell. One of the reason is the filter pads are not flat, another reason is the thickness of those five handsheets are thinner than the filter pads when measuring the brightness.

After ultrasound treatment, the samples brightness decreased compared with the samples that were not treated by ultrasound. When the ultrasound instrument breaks down the inks, the fibers were broken down as well. Depending on the requirements of paper brightness, one often needs to add chemicals to increase the brightness.

Under alkaline and neutral conditions, the brightness does show a big difference.

90

85

80



C/2°(Alkaline)



Figure 38. Luminosity of Sample 5 by C/2°(Neutral)





(Neutral)

The Y values measured by $C/2^{\circ}$ are shown in Figures 37 and 38. Because of the same reason of the thickness of the handsheets, the luminosity of filter pads were higher than the handsheets. The brightness and the luminosity were measured by the same equipment. Under neutral condition, the luminosity was higher than the samples under alkaline condition.





Figure 39. Luminosity of Sample 5 by D65/2°(Alkaline)



The luminosity measured by $D65/2^{\circ}$ is shown in Figures 39 and 40. Under alkaline condition, the trend is similar and the value of the luminosity does not have significant differences. However, under neutral condition the luminosity by $D65/2^{\circ}$ is much higher than the luminosity measured by $C/2^{\circ}$ also under neutral condition. The unprinted samples were lower by over 10, compared with the other samples. After ultrasound, the luminosity increased.

ultrasound

20min





From Figures 41 and 42, most of a* values are above the range of a* value from INGEDE. In figure 41, the normal deinked samples and ultrasound treatment by 20min samples, their a* values were under 2, which is in the range of a*.

CIE b*



Comparing Figures 43 and 44, b* values in 43 are better than the b* values in 44 because they approach the unprinted values.

IE_{AREA} (Ink Elimination by Area)

Table 4

Data of Dark Objects

	Alkaline		Neutral	
	Dark Objects IE _{AREA}		Dark Objects	IE _{AREA}
	PPM Holey	%	PPM Holey	%
U.D	107299		99869	
S.D	89829	16.28	82022	17.87
US 10min	53088	50.52	44481	55.46
US 20min	30133	71.92	23599	76.37

The data in table 4 are from the Verity IA and Dark Dirt v3.4 software. The

software automatically outputs the results in an Excel file. From the dark objects one can calculate the ink elimination area simply.

$$IE = \frac{EBA_{UP} - EBA_{DP}}{EBA_{UP}} \times 100$$

The equation is

[44] which is

named Gong equation. UP means undeinked pulp and DP means deinked pulp. The dark of objects of undeinked samples value minus the values of "S.D; US 10min and US 20min" then divided the value of undeinked dark objects.



Figure 45. Ink Elimination Area by Different Ultrasound Treatment Time

Figure 44 shows the increasing ink elimination area under alkaline and neutral conditions with application of ultrasound. Without any ultrasound treatment, the normal deinked samples ink elimination areas were similar. After 10 minutes ultrasound treatment, the ink elimination area increased by almost 40% under neutral

condition. The ink elimination area also achieved 50% under alkaline conditions. After 20 minutes treatment, the ink elimination area achieved 76.37% under neutral condition, and under alkaline conditions the ink elimination area was 71.92%, which increased by 55% total.

Ink Speck Size Distribution

Table 5

	Alkaline		Neutral	
Condition	Mean(mm ²)	Std(mm ²)	Mean(mm ²)	Std(mm ²)
U.D	1.11	1.96	1.07	1.96
S.D	1.00	1.55	0.93	0.91
US 10min	0.270	0.361	0.121	0.43
US 20 min	0.179	0.127	0.072	0.19

Data of Ink Speck Size Distribution

In table 5, under both neutral and alkaline conditions, the mean value and standard deviation are listed there. Figure 45 shows the ink spec size distribution below.



Figure 46. The Histogram of Ink Spec Size Distribution

Figure 46 showed both alkaline and neutral conditions ink spec size distribution. After 10 minutes ultrasound treatment, the ink specs decreased a lot. And after 20 minutes ultrasound the value are lower than the ultrasound treatment by 10 minutes. The ultrasound treatment definitely could break down the inkplates The smaller inkplates were easy to remove by the flotation cell which could increase the deinkability.

Screening

The Clark Classifier was adding between the storage and flotation which same position with the ultrasound treatment. The requirement of flotation is the consistency of pulp should above 1%. During screening, simulated pipe water, whose temperature is 45 degree was added in the screening machine instead of the pipe water. After operation for five minutes, stop the machine and recover the pulp on different sides of the screener. Then use those pulps in the flotation process to make handsheets. From Figure 34, there are 2 filter pads and 5 handsheets were made in A, B and C. At D, only 2 handsheets were made and nothing at E.





Figure 47. The Histogram of Ink Spec Size Distribution

Each of the position the pulp consistencies were different. The A, B and C

still could obtain enough handsheets and filter pads. From Figure 47, the brightness of the C handsheet had the highest value. Because of the thickness of the handsheets, the brightness and luminosity for D were not measured.



Luminosity by C/2° (557nm)

Figure 48. Y Value by $C/2^{\circ}$



Luminosity of D65/2° (557nm)

Figure 49. Y Value by $D65/2^{\circ}$

From Figures 48 and 49, the luminosity in figure 49 was much higher than the luminosity in figure 48.





Figure 50. a* Value of Sample #5 with Screening

In position B, C and D, a* value of handsheets were under 2, which in the standard range of INGEDE.





Figure 51. b* Value of Sample #5 with Screening

From A to E the consistency of the pulps decreased and the pulp was much finer than the last screen. The b* value increased for the finer pulp.

IE_{AREA} (Ink Elimination by Area)

Table 6

Data of Dark Objects Only Under Neutral Condition

	Neutral		
	Dark Objects PPM Holey	IE _{AREA} %	
U.D	99869	/0	
А	80079	19.82	
В	16439	83.54	
C	5142	94.85	





Figure 52. Ink Elimination Area with Screening

From Figure 52, the ink elimination area achieved 96.3% at position D. At position C the ink elimination area was 94.85% and at position B the ink elimination area was 83.54%. It was easy to see that the most ink platelets are on both sides of the screen that is 15 meshes. Although some of the ink platelets could cross the screen, most of them still remain with the fibers.

CHAPTER VI

CONCLUSION

Under alkaline conditions, the foam in flotation process is a serious problem. POES and SDS, which are neutral chemicals, instead of alkaline chemicals from INGEDE did solve the foam generation problem. However, the optical properties and dirt area count did not yet yielded an optimal result. The ink platelets were too big to remove by foaming. However, the ultrasound does benefit ElectroInk for dirt area.

After ultrasound treatment the ink elimination area increased almost 50%. With the increasing of the ultrasound time, the ink elimination area increased. Under neutral condition, the ink elimination area was a little higher than the ink elimination area under alkaline conditions. The ultrasound treatment could breakdown the in platelets, then the smaller ink platelets could remove by foaming. However, after 20 minutes ultrasound treatment there still is 25% ink not removed by SDS foaming. Prolonging the ultrasound treatment time might increase the efficiency of ink elimination, but the cost may be too high.

In this research, we also investigated screening instead of the ultrasound treatment. Because the ink platelets of ElectroInk were big, but those were very soft and thin, which could cross the screener. In the experiment, most of the ink platelets still get together with the fibers in the Clark Classifier. Therefore, the screening process did not work efficiently with the LEP prints.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. INGEDE(International Association of the Deinking Industry) http://www.ingede.de/ingindxe/whoising.html
- Minedys Macías, Gregg Lane, Nils Miller, Jeffrey Belson and Hou T. Ng, "Deinking of HP digital commercial prints", Proceedings of PaperCon 2010, Atlanta, May 5, 2010.
- J. Karageorgos, B. Burford, W. Valery Jr., P. Rohner, N. W. Johnson, S. Morrell. "Copper Concentrator Autogenous Grinding Practices at Mount ISA Mines Limited", *International Conference on Autogenous and Semiautogenous Grinding Technology*, Vol 1, pp. 145-163, Vancouver, Canada.
- 4. Zheng Wei, Veronika Husovska, Paul D. Fleming III, Jan Pekarovic and John Cameron, "Toward Deinking of LEP Inks Printed on Different Substrates", Proceedings of PaperCon 2013, April 27-May 1, Atlanta.
- Hou T. Ng, Manoj K. Bhattacharyya, Laurie S. Mittelstadt, Eric G. Hanson, "Deinking of HP Commercial Prints: Effect of Chemicals and Their Loadings on Deinkability", HPL-2009-310
- 6. Brodeur, P. H.: Gerhardstein, J. P., Overview of Applications of Ultrasonics in the Pulp and Paper Industry. Proceeding of IEEE International Ultrasonics Symposium, Sebdai, Japan, October 1998
- 7. Nathan Witkop, "Inkjet Printers Spoil Recycling", May 03, 2012, downloaded from http://www.dw.de/inkjet-printers-spoil-recycling/a-15787891
- Emily E. Adams, "World Forest Area Still on the Decline", Forest Cover, August 31, 2012, downloaded from http://www.earthpolicy.org/indicators/C56/forests_2012
- 9. Spignesi, Stephen J. [2004] (2004). Catastrophe! The 100 greatest disasters of all time. Citadel Press. ISBN 0-8065-2558-4. p 37.
- 10. Graham Moore, Recycling, Making the most of the 'Urban Forest, Pulp and Paper International, Online edition, May 2003, downloaded from http://www.risiinfo.com/db_area/archive/ppi_mag/2002/0205/ppi4.htm

- 11. ClimateTechWiki, "Advanced paper recycling", http://climatetechwiki.org/technology/jiqweb-apr, accessed 7/3/2013.
- 12. OQS Directory, "Recycling Equipment", http://www.iqsdirectory.com/industry/recycling_equipment/.
- Giuseppe Bonifazi and Silvia Serranti, "Recycling Technologies", SpringerReference, http://www.springerreference.com/docs/html/chapterdbid/308702.html, Accessed 7/3/2013.
- 14. AF&PA, "Paper Recycling A True Environmental Success Story", April 2013, http://www.afandpa.org/docs/default-source/default-document-library/paperrecycling-success-one-pager-may-2013.pdf
- 15. European Recovered Paper Council, "Recycling process", from http://www.paperforrecycling.eu/paper-recycling/recycling-process
- 16. PT. Melindo Dipta, associate with Melchers http://www.melindo.co.id/pulp/process.htm
- 17. McCool, M.A., Silveri, L: "Removal of specks and non-dispersed ink from a deinking furnish", TAPPI Journal, 70(11): 75-79, November 1987.
- 18. Also Miners, "Flotation in Mining", January 5, 2012 http://miningeducation.blogspot.com/2012/01/flotation-in-mining.html
- 19. Uri Levy and Gilles Biscos, Digital Printing: The Reference Handbook (Third Edition) Interquest, Charlottesville, VA, 2004
- Lassus, A. (2000) "Deinking chemistry". In: Papermaking Science and Technology, Book 7: Recycled Fiber and Deinking. Göttsching, L. and Pakarinen, H. (Eds.) Jyväskylä, Finland, FapetOy.
- Bhattacharyya, Manoj K.; Ng, Hou T.; Mittelstadt, Laurie S.; Aronhime, Marc, "Effects of Paper on LEP Digital Print Deinking with Alkaline and Neutral Chemistries", NIP 28 and Digital Fabrication 2012, Quebec City, September 9-11, 2012, p526.
- 22. Deinking of digital prints, http://www.ingede.com/digital/
- 23. INGEDE, "INGEDE Method 11P, Assessment of Print Product Recyclability Deinkability Test", Downloadable fromhttp://www.ingede.com/ingindxe/methods/meth-e.html, accessed 7/5/13.

- 24. N.N (2011) INGEDE Method 4: Evaluation of Macrostickies in Pulps, INGEDE, Bietigheim-Bissingen, http://www,ingede.com/ingindxe/methods/ingede-method-04-2011.pdf(accessed on 2011)
- 25. Putz, H. –J. Stickies in recycled fiber pulp. Papermaking Sci. Technol. (2000)7, 441-504.
- 26. "Determination of Potential Secondary Stickies by Cationic Precipitation", from http://www.ingede.de/ingindxe/methods/ingede-method-06-2009.pdf
- 27. Doshi, M.R. and Dyer, J.M. (2000). Review of quantification methods for PSA and other stickies. TAPPI Recycling Symposium. Vol 2: 701-712. TAPPI Press, USA.
- 28. Doshi, M.R., Moore, W.J., Venditti, R.A., et al. (2003). Comparison of macrostickies measurement methods. Prog. Pap. Recycling, 12(3): 34-43.
- Casey Kick, Margaret Joyce, Paul Fleming III, Veronika Husovska, Roland Gong. "Understanding Coating Layer Attributes Affecting the Deinkability of LEP Papers". http://www.tappi.org/Downloads/Conference-Papers/2012/12PAPERCON/12PAP109.aspx
- 30. H. W. Fenton and F. J. Romano, On-Demand Printing: The Revolution in Digital and Customized Printing, Second Edition, GATFPress, 1997
- 31. Patent: 2,297,691 (US) issued October 6, 1942 for Electrophotography http://www.ideafinder.com/history/inventors/carlson.htm
- Indigo Technology: Digital Offset Color Presses, www.nowdisc.com/documents/indigo.pdf, 28th February 2005 (16th December 2005)
- 33. Laura Field, "HP Indigo LEP Technology", PaperCon 2009, St. Louis. Missouri, from http://www.tappi.org/content/events/09papercon/papers/Field.pdf
- 34. Matt Whipp, "INGEDE declares Indigo print 'unusable'", Printweek.com, 12 November 2010
- 35. Harald Grossmann and Heiko Frohlich, "Ultrasound Deinking", Dresden University of Technology, INGEDE-Project 119 08, loaded from http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Ultrasound_range_diagram.png
- 36. "Ultrasound and Its Properties", NIHON DEMPA KOGYO CO,LTD. http://www.ndk.com/en/sensor/ultrasonic/basic01.html

- 37. Scott W E and P Gerber, "Using ultrasound to deink xerographic waste", TAPPI, 78, (12), 125-30, 1995
- Ramasubramanian M K and S I Madanshetty, "Focused high frequency ultrasonic removal of xerographic toner from paper surfaces", Proceedings from the TAPPI Recycling Symposium, 21-7, 2000, ISBN 0 8985296 0 3
- 39. "Ultrasonic Processors for Small Volume Applications", SONICS & MATERIALS,INC. loaded from http://www.sonics.biz/liquiddatasheet/VCX130PB.pdf
- 40. "Brightmeter Micro S-5", Technidyne Cooperation, http://www.technidyne.com/Brightimeter-Micro-S5.html
- 41. Simon Baker, "X-Rite i1 Pro", January 19. 2011, http://www.tftcentral.co.uk/reviews/i1_pro.htm
- 42. "X-Rite Densitometers & Spetrophotometers", Cherlyn Company, loaded from http://www.cherlyncolour.co.uk/khxc/index.php?app=gbu0&ns=catshow&ref=X DS
- 43. Rosenberger, R. (1999). Verity IA Image Analysis: Digitized Image Object Isolation, Identification, & Measurement, Verity IA LLC
- 44. Roland Gong, Paul D. Fleming III, Roy Rosenberger. "Application of Wet Image Analysis on Recycled Paper Ink Elimination Evaluation" loaded from: http://homepages.wmich.edu/~ckw8577/Application%20of%20Wet%20Image% 20Analysis%20on%20Recycled%20Paper%20Ink%20Elimination%20Evaluatio n%20final.pdf